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Part I FOUNDATIONS











Chapter 1 The Fate of Lesser Persons



The man straightened up in the airport waiting room and lowered his newspaper. His face was contorted with a mixture of emotions—anger, fear, sadness—at what he had just read. His rumpled suit and outdated waistcoat strained under the pressure. They’d killed Danquah.


Danquah had been Sir Alan Burns’ nemesis. Danquah stood for opportunism and politics, while Burns stood for justice and administration. Danquah claimed to have ended Burns’ career. A promised post as governor of exotic Malaya was withdrawn and replaced by a taxing, high-profile decade at the United Nations—all because of Danquah. The last time they met, at the ceremony for Ghana’s independence in 1957, the animosity was palpable. There were no handshakes, despite encouragement from bystanders. Danquah, a leading Ghanaian nationalist, boasted of how much pain he had inflicted on Burns, a former colonial governor. Full of confidence, Danquah was a man of the future, while Burns was a man of the past. Danquah was surrounded by reporters. Burns was ignored and flew home to shudders about the whole colonial enterprise. Now, eight years later, Danquah was dead, devoured by the revolution he started. Ghana was in steep decline, and the lives of close friends were at risk.




Accra, Ghana, February 4, 1965, New York Times Service—Dr. Joseph B. Danquah, a leader in the struggle for Ghanaian independence who later broke bitterly with President Kwame Nkrumah, died in detention today, the Government announced. The official statement said that Dr. Danquah, who was 69 years old, had died of a heart attack. He had been imprisoned since Jan. 8, 1964, under Ghana’s Preventive Detention Act. In the decades before the Gold Coast became independent from Britain and changed its name to Ghana, Dr. Danquah was the colony’s unquestioned political leader. After independence, he led the opposition against Kwame Nkrumah under a government that tolerated opposition less and less.1





It was the twilight days of European empire. As colonial judges, station masters, revenue collectors, regimental commanders, and district officers came home, a long shadow of global indifference had spread over the affairs of newly independent countries like Ghana. Under that shadow, stories like the death of Danquah were now common. No one really cared anymore. Unless, like Sir Alan Burns, they remembered.


In retrospect, it was surprising how long Danquah had survived.2 A witty and self-effacing lawyer, Joseph Danquah was the sort of person that colonial officials like Sir Alan Burns hoped would assume power in newly independent states. He was pushed aside in 1947 by the radical Nkrumah, who had been trained in London by Britain’s Communist Party and in the United States by black racialists. Nkrumah abandoned the lawyerly constitutionalism of his mentor in favor of violent street protest. In the election prior to independence, Nkrumah’s party trounced the moderates represented by Danquah with promises of untold riches and freedom once the British left.


The moment the Union Jack was lowered, Nkrumah introduced a series of repressive measures and steered West Africa’s most prosperous economy into a wall. Eleven of the twelve opposition members in Parliament were soon in prison. By 1965, wages had fallen to levels not seen since the 1930s, while Ghana’s foreign reserves, carefully built up under the British, had evaporated. Cocoa farmers, the backbone of the economy, were paid half the market price by Nkrumah. The British had paid them 50 percent above the market price.3 Backbenchers in the ruling party began to grumble that things were worse than in colonial days. Danquah wrote to Nkrumah about an “anti-climax of repression after liberation.”


In the first presidential election after independence, a sham really, Danquah won only 2 percent of the vote against Nkrumah’s 98 percent. Danquah warned that his erstwhile colleague was becoming a “despot, autocrat, or dictator… or God.” Amid the unbridled enthusiasm for an end to colonialism, such sentiments now seemed churlish. President Kennedy toasted the diminutive Nkrumah in Washington in early 1961 despite warnings from the State Department of an “alarming trend toward authoritarian socialism.”4 Kennedy’s ill-chosen words at the departure ceremony—“We ourselves are a revolutionary people[,] and we want to see for other people what we have been able to gain for ourselves”—seemed only to encourage Nkrumah’s fanaticism.


As living standards plummeted in 1961, a strike erupted among railway and dock workers over a government budget that would reduce wages and raise taxes. The strike rapidly spread to other sectors of the economy. Workers accustomed to the beginnings of prosperity under colonialism felt jilted by Nkrumah’s promise of “paradise in ten years” after the British left. The ruling party newspaper insisted that parliamentary criticisms of the budget were evidence of “the utter fraudulence and ineffectiveness of the bogus British colonialist system” and that the striking workers were “agents of neo-colonialism.”5 Nkrumah, on vacation in Russia, instructed his cabinet to declare martial law. The British and Canadian officers on staff in the Ghanaian army probably prevented the military from overthrowing Nkrumah in absentia. When Nkrumah returned from his Soviet-sponsored rest on the Black Sea, he jailed fifty of the strike leaders.


Danquah was arrested for demanding a “sensible” budget and spent eight months in prison. He and his fellow detainees smuggled out copies of protest letters to the United Nations, just as they had during colonial days, expecting it would cause a sensation. But for some reason, the defenders of justice at the United Nations did not seem to care about black lives now that the British were gone.


Believing that Nkrumah would eventually be thrown out of office, the CIA station in Accra began paying Danquah’s wife a small monthly stipend during his incarceration, hoping that this comparatively prudent nationalist would halt Nkrumah’s destructive march.6 President Kennedy was furious when he learned of the payments, knowing that Nkrumah, and generations of his admirers, would cite them as proof that any opposition to his baleful policies was merely a Western plot.


When he was released in 1962, Danquah wrote of a sense among Ghanaians that they had been “misled” by expectations of freedom and prosperity after independence. Under constant police supervision, he was forced to watch Nkrumah receive the Soviet Union’s Lenin Peace Prize in Accra. At the ceremony, Nkrumah observed sullenly that Danquah had grown fat on “bacon and egg.” He ordered the country’s expanding ranks of political prisoners—586 people detained in 1963 alone and 1,200 by 1965—to be fed only a dried bread made from cassava flour known as garri.


In 1964, the latest of several attempts to assassinate Nkrumah was foiled by security guards. When interrogated, the assassin commented that Danquah would benefit from Nkrumah’s death. The police commissioner concluded that Danquah had nothing to do with it.7 But in the dystopian politics of post-colonial countries, police reports were now irrelevant. Danquah was locked up again, this time in a bare concrete cell in the condemned prisoners’ section. He was not allowed to stand for the first three months and not allowed outside for the first six. On the garri diet, he lost forty pounds. No Ghanaian doctors attended him. Instead, imported doctors from communist Yugoslavia issued upbeat reports on his health. Small acts of kindness from the Ghanaian guards—peeling oranges for the weakened man or bathing him in his cell—persisted.


Four letters to Nkrumah, a combination of flattery and hectoring, went unanswered. In one, Danquah contrasted his cruel conditions with how the British had treated them both when they were detained briefly following a riot in 1948: “They treated us as gentlemen, and not as galley slaves, and provided each of us with a furnished bungalow (two or three rooms) with a garden, together with opportunity for reading and writing. In fact, I took with me my typewriter and papers for the purpose… and there was ample opportunity for correspondence.” The Irish district commissioner had provided three square meals a day from his own table. A colonial judge had released them both against the wishes of the colonial administration, because there was no evidence to justify continued detention. “The reason why detention in ‘free’ and civilized and humane Ghana is” so much worse than under British colonialism, Danquah wrote to Nkrumah, “has never been understood by me.”8


By early 1965, Danquah’s letters took on a measure of desperation: “It was our people’s love for justice that compelled them to ask the British in 1843 to come back to Ghana [after evacuating in 1828]… Our people’s love of British justice… compelled our ancestors to welcome the return of the British. Now the British people have gone away from us only some seven years ago… and already some people are asking in regard to certain incidents: ‘Is this justice?’ ”9 Shaming Nkrumah with unfavorable comparisons to colonialism was unlikely to persuade. By now, Danquah realized that his rival—Black Star of Africa, Messianic Majesty of Ghana, Man of Destiny, Redeemer and Victor, Party Chairman For Life, President of the Ghana Academy of Sciences, and Senior Captain of a new 7,500-ton luxury yacht—had no intention of relenting. Nkrumah declared Ghana a one-party state and the 1965 election unnecessary.


The constant interrogations of Danquah intensified as his health sputtered. He began to make preparations to die, asking Nkrumah to tell his wife that he had sought to make peace with him. “When I am rendered incapable of acting for myself by any fatality, such as death or insanity, there will be a legitimate provision to stabilize her in life and enable her to sustain me in her memory.”


Twelve days later, after more than a year in prison, Danquah was let out for a five-minute bath. On returning, he found his cell ransacked, his Bible lying shredded on the floor. A storm of anger arose. “Cows and fools!” he berated the warders. They claimed he overreacted and suffered a heart attack. No one really knew. A later inquiry led by a British judge concluded that the horrific treatment of “a man of his standing and intellect… beggars description.”10 The Ghanaian opposition leader living in Britain offered to return from exile and stand trial in a neutral African state if Nkrumah would stand trial for Danquah’s murder.11 Nkrumah declined. But he made a show of retreating to his ancestral village, where the state-run press was instructed to photograph him in brooding postures.12


News of Danquah’s death brought recriminations from across Africa. “If independence means the substitution of indigenous tyranny for alien rule,” declared Nigerian president Nnamdi Azikiwe a few days after the death, “then those who struggled for the independence of former colonial territories have not only desecrated the cause of freedom, they have betrayed their peoples.”13 As a young nationalist, Azikiwe had spent three years working alongside Danquah in Ghana (then known as the Gold Coast), between 1934 and 1937, where he launched a nationalist newspaper, the African Morning Post, published a book on African independence, and consorted with anti-colonial leaders from across the region. Azikiwe now understood that those newspapers, organizations, orderly societies, and civic freedoms under colonialism did not just “happen.” “It is an irony of history,” Azikiwe would say about Danquah’s death, “that a great pioneer of Ghanaian scholarship should die in a detention camp barely eight years after his country had become free from foreign domination.”14 Ghana’s official radio station called Azikiwe a “witless parrot” and the rest of his cabinet “mad dogs” for their cautious approach to decolonization.15


An official funeral was out of the question. Danquah’s family insisted on a ceremony in his hometown. Nkrumah, the Afro-centrist, banned the use of traditional Akan drums intended to give Danquah’s spirit influence over the living. Instead, the brass band of the local Presbyterian church was allowed to play. There was something fitting in this. Danquah’s life and career had been critically shaped by his father’s embrace of Presbyterianism and by his own love of British colonial administration and constitutionalism. The brass band sounded a universal loss in a way that the Akan drums could not. “His death was seen as parricidal by many who considered Danquah the father of the nation, and Nkrumah his wayward son,” wrote a British historian who was a graduate student in Ghana at the time.16 A few days after the death, a Pentagon analyst for Africa raised the obvious question in a letter to the New York Times: “If a man who named the state ends in this manner, what may be the fate of lesser persons?”17





As Sir Alan Burns sat with his wife Katie at New York’s newly renamed John F. Kennedy International airport on the morning of February 5th, 1965, the news of Danquah’s death was disquieting. Knowing that this man who vilified him as governor had died brought little joy. Any sense of vindication was overshadowed by anxiety for the “lesser persons” left behind. Somewhere in rural Ghana was his niece Marca, daughter of his brother Emile. It was Emile who led the training of Nkrumah in London by the British Communist Party. The Burns brothers never lost their mutual love despite being ideologically divided on colonialism and pretty much everything else. Marca, a veterinarian and animal geneticist, picked up the communist bug from her father. After independence, she volunteered to run a state-owned goat farm for Nkrumah. The state-run farms produced only 20 percent as much per worker as private farms, and they embezzled most of what they produced.18 Marca remained a dogged Nkrumahist even as her father retired, agog and confused by the failures of communism. Sir Alan, the undiminished man of affairs, continued to take an active “colonial” interest in the fate of individual lives in the newly independent states. Marca needed his help.


In Accra, meanwhile, was Lady Dinah Quist, a close friend and confidante of Sir Alan. She was the wife of the first African speaker of the legislature, whom Burns promoted in the last days of empire. A noble West African woman, he kept her photo and letters tucked away in his belongings. She supported him at the very worst time of his life, when the British press and Parliament—especially the self-important Winston Churchill—were calling for his resignation over the death sentences of local men convicted of a “ritual murder.” Danquah had led the defense, pettifogging the colonial legal system until Burns commuted most of the sentences. “You have not done anything wrong[,] and why should you go away in this manner?” Lady Quist had written to him at the height of the drama. She stood by Burns in the worst of times. Now it was his turn to stand by her.


With these thoughts, Burns folded his newspaper. He and wife Katie were returning to the fly-blown colonies of the British Caribbean, where they were born and raised. It was their fiftieth anniversary—time to make up for the hardships and lost moments of life in the colonial civil service. Burns worried about Katie’s fragile health. But the death of Danquah would loom over the five weeks they spent in Antigua and St. Kitts.


The 1960s were a decade of self-doubt for the West. The Soviet Union and Mao’s China were heralded as the future. The deaths of millions in the newly independent countries were politely ignored by Western progressives as the “price of freedom.” Burns remained the most prominent and eloquent defender of Western colonialism, as determined as he was charming. He had expected a quiet retirement after the Gold Coast. But London sent him to the United Nations to make a last stand for the British Empire. In a dramatic four months at the United Nations in 1955, he had tried to slow the global rush to decolonization. His failure signified the last hope for the preservation of the millions of human lives that would be lost in the subsequent collapse of colonial rule. Ten years later, Danquah was dead, and Burns had become a lone voice, seen as a dinosaur and reactionary by the left and an embarrassment by the right. Yet with each new crisis like Ghana, the warnings he made seemed more prescient.


The small sailboats twisted and turned in the light breeze off the jetty at Basseterre, capital of St. Kitts. As a young man, Burns had literally sailed from one assignment to the next in these islands, sometimes with prisoners under his charge manning the jib. From the verandah of the St. Kitts Club in 1965 with drink in hand, it could seem like nothing had changed in the sixty-odd years since he began his colonial career. His father’s photograph still hung over the reading room inside.


But those “tender and new-dedicate foundations” created by colonial rule, as Kipling called them, were everywhere under threat from tyrants like Nkrumah. At age seventy-seven, Burns remained politely contrarian, refusing to accept the anti-colonial viewpoints that had swept the West’s intellectual canvas. Human lives were being lost at an alarming rate in the former colonial areas, and no one seemed to care now that the colonizers were gone. His first task was to find Marca and Lady Quist. Perhaps in other ways, this lone figure who stood against a global catastrophe could still make a difference. “You have not done anything wrong[,] and why should you go away in this manner?”





Sir Alan Burns was one of the most experienced and articulate British colonial officials of the twentieth century. He served in top posts in the Bahamas, British Honduras (Belize), the Gold Coast (Ghana), and Nigeria, as well as in the Colonial Office in London, and for ten critical years after World War II, he was the most passionate voice for European colonialism at the United Nations. Pugnacious, likeable, spare of words, humorous, and impatient with humbug, Burns was widely published and even more widely traveled. He wrote books about the United Nations, colonialism, the history of Nigeria, travel decorum, the British West Indies, and the game of bridge, among other topics. After leaving the UN, he continued his “colonial” life, working to avert ethnic conflict in Fiji and trying to hold the British Commonwealth together. He loved birds, philately, rum punch, and Woodpecker-brand cider. He lived just long enough to witness the catastrophic consequences of sudden decolonization across the Third World, writing a final unpublished manuscript that presciently predicted the rise of humanitarian intervention in failed states.


Burns may seem an unlikely topic for a biography. The views he defended are out of fashion today. He was an obdurate defender of colonialism as a legitimate form of alien rule that brought more justice, opportunity, and prospects for human flourishing than would have otherwise arisen in the places it was found. Those are big claims, but his life was lived at a commensurate scale—he was an ostrich-feathered governor of West Africa’s richest country, a member of the British delegation to the United Nations for a decade, and a revered scholar on Nigeria whose history of that country defined the field for half a century. His personal story covers the full arc of the story of Western colonialism—its rise, flourishing, embattlement, and collapse. He not only lived through colonialism but debated it with its fiercest critics. These included his brother Emile, a leading member of Britain’s Communist Party who trained Third World tyrants like Nkrumah and consorted with Soviet Union agents under the watchful eye of Britain’s MI5.


Anti-colonial perspectives are so dominant today that an admiring biography of Sir Alan Burns would seem to lack a modern sensibility. But new voices and research are starting to reclaim some degree of objectivity about the causes and consequences of colonialism. The life of Sir Alan Burns shows us in intimate detail why and how colonialism spread so rapidly and easily; how its universalizing ethos so quickly won out over the parochial worldviews it displaced; how this inevitably created its own demise by asserting the centrality of human dignity, rights, and national identity that must lead to self-government; how this productive tension between colonial rule and rising nationalism, which could have set many countries onto a stable path, was broken by the West’s sudden loss of confidence (and resources) after World War II; how the precipitous end of European colonial rule brought catastrophic consequences for most of the newly independent countries; and how, despite the entrenchment of anti-colonial ideology globally, new voices and leaders in the Third World began to reclaim those lessons in the 1980s and 1990s, to good effect. Burns not only lived this reality, dying in 1980 just as the first shoots of a renewed positive interest in colonialism were appearing; he also wrote it.


A leading scholar of colonial officialdom considered Burns to be of “comparable eminence” to Lord Lugard, the storied explorer and governor who amalgamated what became Nigeria.19 As governor of the Gold Coast, he was praised in Parliament as “one of the very best men the Colonial Service has ever known.” Burns was part of the last cohort of colonial officials who were Britain’s Greatest Generation. They have been forgotten by a preemptive imperial cringe in that country. Compared to the “great men” like Nkrumah and Gandhi whose intemperate and ill-considered efforts to force colonizers out led to setbacks for their people, these late colonial officials have much to be proud of. Yet they are oddly neglected.


The career of Sir Alan Burns is no less fascinating than are his political views. Burns lived a dramatic life of escape from riots and poverty in St. Kitts into the din of war in the swamps of the Cameroons in World War I. He put down prison riots in the Bahamas as colonial secretary and had his London office shattered by German bombs in World War II. As governor of the Gold Coast, he was variously denounced and praised for his handling of a celebrated “ritual murder” case that filled the London papers for months. His brother’s flirtation with Soviet spies meant he was watched closely by Britain’s spy chasers even as he was made privy to the most secret information on Soviet behavior. During a decade at the United Nations, he crisscrossed the Atlantic by ship in the company of Thai princes and American tycoons, everywhere making a public defense of the British Empire. Sadly, Burns lived just long enough to see his worst predictions vindicated in the “lost decade” of the 1970s.


An unpretentious Catholic, Burns left behind a loyal family following. He was devoted to his graceful wife Katie. Before dying of cancer in 1970, she bet the farm on a racehorse and lost. Burns did not complain. He had overcome worse setbacks. His relationship with his two daughters was more distant—in part, because he saw so little of them when they were young. But he was fair and generous as a father. His brother Robert was a close confidante, his best friend really, who toiled in the tropics for the colonial civil service like himself but was forced out by deafness. Robert died the same year as Katie, leaving Alan as the unexpected graybeard of his family.


In his final years in the 1970s, living alone in a decaying Britain, Burns would set out from his flat each morning to cross London’s grand Pall Mall avenue to his cherished Athenaeum Club. Seeing him step out, the club porter would walk into the road to hold up traffic. In 1978, I was a young Canadian boy visiting Britain for the first time with my parents and siblings. Perhaps on one of those mornings, travelling by London cab to see Buckingham Palace, my family was delayed by Sir Alan’s morning ritual. As the cab passed, I imagine pressing my nose to the window to get a glimpse of the tottering old man, amazed at yet another example of the eccentric British. It’s as close as I could ever have been to Sir Alan Burns. Fortunately, his memories were carefully preserved by his family. This book exhumes that noble and important life.










Chapter 2 A Judge of Rum



Late one afternoon in 1897, a group of children stood on a wooden jetty in Basseterre, capital of St. Kitts, in the remotest part of the British Caribbean. They held flowers and Union Jacks. Among them was a nine-year-old boy, Alan Burns, wearing a blue-and-white sailor suit with Jack Tar hat. As dusk fell, a British warship appeared on the horizon. It disgorged a boatload of men who were rowed to the jetty for an appreciative welcome.


The arrivals offered hope in what seemed a hopeless situation. A year earlier, a riot had erupted when a Portuguese plantation owner in St. Kitts had refused demands from his workers for higher wages.1 Workers on the island, mostly descended from slaves, had been striking and setting fire to cane fields for six months. Alan’s father, the treasurer of St. Kitts and a member of its legislature, urged a firm response. The local administrator was hesitant. When the new riot erupted, it coincided with a protest by harbor workers demanding better conditions who were blocking services to visiting ships. The estate and harbor workers made common cause, blowing shells to signify their defiance as they marched into the center of Basseterre. They were joined by the swelling ranks of unemployed. The plantation owners sought refuge in anchored boats while the voluntary police force fled into the bush. The mob smashed windows and street lights, looted stores, and left the town in ruins.


The Burns home, a modest two-story residence on the main street, quickly became a target. “They broke into the rum shops and got gloriously drunk. They then paraded the streets, stoning the houses of the white residents and breaking most of their glass windows, and assaulting any they could find,” Alan would recall. Along with his younger brother Emile and their parents, the family huddled behind wooden shutters as the mob besieged their home. “I can remember my mother pushing my younger brother under the bed as stones flew into the room where we were gathered.”2 Alan’s father, who had been caught in a similar riot in Antigua as a boy, wielded a revolver. “The local authorities are handicapped and entirely unable to cope with the rioters,” one newspaper reported.3


By luck, one of the British warships that regularly wintered in the Caribbean, the HMS Cordelia, had recently arrived off Basseterre. The local administrator called for assistance. A naval brigade of 66 sailors and marines came ashore. Weathering a rain of stones and broken bottles, they shot 3 rioters dead, wounded another 5, and arrested 150. Fires were extinguished and martial law imposed. It was an unprecedented suspension of liberties on the island, which had been in British hands for nearly 200 years. If the Cordelia had not been in harbor that day, the American commercial agent on the island reported, “few of the white people would have escaped with their lives.”4


“[The attack was] one of the earliest incidents that I can clearly remember,” Alan would recall. He and Emile were confined to home during six months of martial law. Top officials, including Alan’s father, worked to calm the population of thirty-two thousand, choosing to exile many of the rioters to outlying islands. “A very uneasy feeling existed in the island for some months subsequently,” noted the official report on the riot.5 The Burns family fortunes were collapsing as fast as those of the island. Alan’s two older brothers and older sister were at boarding school in England. The cost of schooling three children in England was heavy, and, as economic conditions in St. Kitts worsened following the riots, government salaries were cut and pension promises became a fiction. Just as the British Empire reached its “pinnacle of wealth and power” globally, Alan would recall, the Caribbean colonies were in a state of “economic crisis, financial disaster, and the abandonment of ancient constitutions.”6 Three days after Christmas in 1896, Alan’s overworked father, aged forty-four, died.





To be born and raised on the tiny islands of the British Caribbean in the late nineteenth century was to be on the periphery in every sense. Each group—European, African, East Indian, Chinese, Amer-Indian—came from somewhere else and saw itself as a part of an inchoate new people. Alan grew up as a “wild boy” of the islands, hunting blue pigeons in the densely forested mountainous uplands of St. Kitts and sailing for hours in a gaff-rigged dinghy. His best friend was his black nanny, “who was very dear to” him, as he “was dear to her.”7 The Caribbean social milieu was like mud splattered by a spinning wheel: freed blacks working the plantations; Indian and Chinese migrants competing with them; poor white farmers disparaged as “white cockroaches” by the freed blacks; a mixed-race, “whitey-pokey,” colored population serving in menial service roles; and a small number of white colonial officials bitterly divided between locals and expatriates. The British Empire in the Caribbean stewed away in the tropical heat—“the Empire’s darkest slum,” as Britain’s top colonial official called it8—and every few years a great oily bubble like the St. Kitts riots exploded to the surface.


For the Burns family, the social distance from European civilization was great. The family was originally part of the McGregor clan in Scotland that for centuries had been in and out of trouble with the law. Feuds with rival clans and conflict with British soldiers in his hometown of St. Andrews forced Alan’s grandfather to flee. He arrived in Montserrat in 1832 at the age of nineteen and married a well-to-do American woman whose family had settled Hunts Point (later a part of New York City). A reinvented man, he joined the civil service and rose to be assistant colonial secretary of the Leeward Islands colony, dying in 1887, the year that Alan was born.


Alan’s father took the family even further from its British roots. He fell in love with a Catholic girl whose family had fled the French Revolution and settled at St. Kitts (which had been divided under a pact between English and French settlers in 1627). In order to marry her, he converted to Catholicism. If there was any Christian group more scorned by the British Empire than the evangelical Protestants, it was the Catholics, whose patriotism was always doubted. Catholic French planters had held British Grenada for a year in 1796, executing the governor and forty-eight of his officials. An attempt by Leeward Island legislators to allow Catholic refugees from the French Revolution to hold government positions was disallowed by the British authorities in 1798. It was not until 1829, with the lifting of such restrictions in Britain itself, that the Catholics were allowed to hold government jobs. Alan was the fourth of five children of this suspicious Catholic union. He attended the Basseterre Roman Catholic grammar school, where the students were an unruly collection of races compared to the orderly English stock at the Anglican school.


The waves of migrants who made up the Caribbean islands were lost. “They had the vaguest idea of their history.… Some people spoke of a shipwreck,” wrote the Nobel laureate Vidiadhar (V. S.) Naipaul, a Trinidadian of Indian descent.9 Naipaul powerfully described his need to “make that journey from the periphery to the center” toward what he called the “universal civilization”10 to be found in Europe and the United States. For Naipaul, in 1950, the journey was as simple as boarding a ship with a scholarship to Oxford. But for Alan Burns in 1897, a nine-year-old boy without a father and with only the shreds of a basic education, the escape from the periphery would be more difficult.


The arrival of Her Majesty’s West Indies Royal Commission on the wooden jetty at Basseterre in 1897 suggested a way out. The chief representative of “universal civilization” who walked past the impressionable young Alan that evening was the awe-inspiring Sir Henry Norman; raised in Calcutta, he had been a war hero and commander in India and then a modernizing governor of Jamaica and Queensland in Australia, among other posts. Offered the position of Viceroy of India, Norman declined, fearing the strain. The West Indies commission would be his coda. Many Leeward Islanders were starting to look toward the United States for help—“like Mohammedans to Mecca” as one contemporary American journalist put it.11 But for the young Alan, Mecca was in the direction of Britain, and it was personified by the regal Sir Henry Norman who clambered onto the jetty that evening.


The commission began its inquiry in British Guiana (later independent Guyana) in January 1897, working its way north.12 In Antigua, it reported, “Poverty is increasing and houses falling into disrepair and… generally a state of depression exists which cannot but cause suffering and discontent.”13 In St. Kitts, it stated, “We regret to have to say that the prospects are no better,” and, “The prospect of distress leading perhaps to disturbance… is very serious.”


Alan pored over the commission’s report when it was released in 1898. In all the Caribbean colonies, the report said, “A very serious condition of things is rapidly approaching… and the crisis will be reached in a very few years.” The colonies were promised ten years of financial support to improve infrastructure, invest in new crops, reform land ownership, and expand education. London would lobby European and American governments to stop subsidizing their sugar production. Alan later recalled every point of its diagnosis and recommendations.14 Rising above the sordid squabbles of cruel Portuguese planters, angry black cane cutters, cretinous mulatto policemen, and punch-drunk British officials, the report described Alan’s world in a new language: the language of governance, universalism, and dispassion. From this colonial perspective came empathy and understanding. “Notwithstanding these riots,” Alan would later write, “the general conduct of the inhabitants was good.”15


Colonialism in the Caribbean, as elsewhere, was not yet in question. A sense of nationalism, of being separate from Britain, did not yet exist. Subject peoples saw themselves as natural parts of European empires. Riots like those in Basseterre were evidence of rising expectations, and the Royal Commission was evidence of a rising response. Alan was present, so to speak, at the prelude to nationalism.





The death of Alan’s father prompted one older brother, Robert (known in the family as Bertie), and his elder sister, Agnes Ethel (known as Essie), to return to St. Kitts from boarding school in England. The eldest brother, Cecil, who was at Cambridge as a promising Catholic theologian, would never return to the islands. The dire conditions led the family to desperate measures. While Alan looked to the universal civilization in Britain, his mother, like others on the island, looked to the proximal version in the United States. In the summer of 1897, she led the four children—Bertie, Essie, Alan, and Emile—to New York City, hoping to extract some financial compensation from the family’s ancient claims at Hunts Point. Like the comically protracted Jarndyce and Jarndyce proceedings in Dickens’s Bleak House, the Hunts Point case had dragged on for decades without resolution. It was Alan’s first time in a developed Western country, and it does not seem to have been a happy time, not least because the claims came to naught. As in Jarndyce and Jarndyce, lawyers’ fees had eaten most of the money.


The failure of the Hunts Point assay forced the family to make some hard choices on returning to St. Kitts. Bertie was now the responsible sibling since Cecil remained in England. Faced with two younger brothers needing an education and family finances on the skids, Bertie abandoned his education, where he had shown promise as a classicist, and took a civil service job in St. Kitts, aged seventeen. Essie also remained in St. Kitts, abandoning her interest in writing. Their sacrifices freed up money to send Alan to England. He would follow his brothers to St. Edmund’s College, a Catholic boys’ school north of London. Alan arrived in England in August 1900, aged twelve. Having welcomed universal civilization to Basseterre three years earlier, Alan of Basseterre now came ashore in universal civilization.


If New York was miserable, England seems to have been simply a bore to this “wild boy.” He was “intelligent but lazy” and spent “too much time playing cricket and tennis,” according to his school records. In private, he made unflattering doodles of female staff he wanted to marry. There was no easy road ahead, and he knew it. A letter to his mother reflected his tender determination:




Dear Mater,


This is meant to be a serious letter though I know it will seem funny.


Firstly, in I Ruds. you can learn either Greek or Latin. I am learning Greek until I hear from you so please send instructions soon.


II. What am I to do when I leave college. Am I to get work in the West Indies or in England. I finally intend to get in the Indian Civil Service for I am certain that if I studied hard I could pass any exam of that sort. My health is fairly good so I am going to have a shot at it. I can study for it when I am working.


III. How long am I to stay at the college.


IV. Please tell me if you see anything on my bill that you think I spend too much on & especially suits of clothes. I try to make them last as long as I can but at a college you can’t hold up your skirts like a girl & you can’t help being knocked in the dirt sometimes so I fear I spend a lot on clothes (outer).


Please write full answers to these inquiries by next mail.


Your affectionate son,


Alan Burns





During the holidays, Alan remained in Britain, where the debate on colonialism had begun. It was prompted by the brutal three-year war from 1899 to 1902 against the Dutch-descended Boer republics in southern Africa, fought in an effort to unify the region under British control. The war was popular among black South Africans, who hoped for an extension of the freedoms of the British Cape Colony to other parts of the region: one hundred thousand of them fought and served on the British side of the war. The local Indian community, meanwhile, which had been streaming into southern Africa because of British rule, expressed its support for the war “unreservedly and unconditionally.” In the words of one immigrant, a local lawyer named Mohandas Gandhi, the Indian community’s contributions to the war would “bind closer still the different parts of the mighty empire of which” the Indian community was “so proud.”16


At home, the war was unpopular. Over twenty-two thousand British soldiers died, and vast sums were spent on the campaign. What had once appeared a progressive empire of free trade and civilization seemed to be unraveling into jingoism and over-reach—captured in the title of one critical book that appeared in 1899, Patriotism and Empire.17 A young economist, John Hobson, spent that summer in southern Africa as war loomed, then returning home to join the newly formed League of Liberals Against Aggression and Militarism. His 1902 book Imperialism: A Study became the first major critique of colonialism.18 Hobson’s proposal for colonies to be turned into international trusteeships would shape Alan’s entire career.


Alan’s question to his mother about his future was abruptly resolved in his third year, when brother Emile joined him at St. Edmund’s. The cost of supporting two boys was untenable and so, like his brother before him, Alan abandoned his formal education. “As family fortunes had been at a very low ebb ever since my father’s death,” Alan would write, “it was necessary for me to begin work very young.”19 Cecil remained in England, while Bertie escaped to a customs job in the Gold Coast of West Africa. Sister Essie and Alan’s mother migrated to England and settled at a Catholic convent. Alan was the last of the Burns dynasty in the Caribbean.





When he returned to St. Kitts in 1903, aged sixteen, there were no jobs. Alan volunteered at the treasurer’s office, an unpaid internship that would last for two years. Not until 1905 did the name Alan Cuthbert Maxwell Burns finally appear in the annals of Western colonialism, when he was formally hired as a junior revenue officer (RO) in the Presidency of St. Christopher–Nevis, aged seventeen. It was the lowliest job in the most insignificant part of the British Empire.


Alan insisted that he “was practically born into the colonial civil service.”20 A fellow colonial official joked that he “imbibed the traditions of a colonial civil servant with his mother’s milk.”21 It would be better to say that he developed an affinity for a vocation that was in the family. Brother Cecil, after all, never thought of joining the service, and Bertie was at best a reluctant colonial official. Sister Essie showed little interest in things colonial, while Emile avoided it altogether. For Alan, the colonial service was a dream job: “I cannot remember ever having thought seriously of any other possible career,” he wrote, “and if I had the chance to begin again I do not think I should choose any other.”22


Two-thirds of the men who rose to become governors in Britain’s African colonies in the twentieth century had university degrees. Alan considered his lack of formal education an advantage. As his career progressed, he would repeatedly argue against attempts to require a university degree for senior colonial jobs. “A strong character and sound common sense are far more valuable assets to a colonial official than the most brilliant academic distinctions,” he would write.23 The ineffectual governor of the Leeward Islands at the time was a Balliol graduate and former professor of classics. Much later, when summer university courses became mandatory for new recruits, Alan warned that they would produce young officers “full of zeal and theory” lacking what he considered the two essentials: “unlimited patience and a real sympathy for the people among whom the young officer will work.”24


Burns, RO, was an ideal candidate in this sense: colonial-born, diligent, of practical bent, and with a natural empathy for local needs. The first available photo of him at a desk shows him in a crisp uniform with his equally well-dressed staff—black, colored, and Indian—ready for a day’s work (figure 2.1): “A lack of punctuality, untidy offices, and slovenliness in dress may be indications of eccentric genius,” he would write, “but they are more likely to be signs of inefficiency.”25


One advantage of being raised in the British Caribbean was its constitutional traditions. In other colonies, the governor and traditional rulers shared absolute power. In the British Caribbean, as a result of pressures from European settlers and their colored (mixed-race) descendants, legislatures had become more democratic over time. “As the education and development of the inhabitants improved, the system was adapted to meet the growing desire for fuller representation,” Alan would later recall.26 A gradual move to self-government was normal in colonial politics for Alan, whose father and grandfather had served in colonial legislatures and cabinets. He would take these assumptions with him, if he could ever escape.


Another advantage was that it was difficult to be parochial in the Caribbean, where everyone was an immigrant and most populations were thoroughly mixed. The color barrier for top colonial posts in the British Empire was broken here first in 1841 when a mixed-race African was appointed president of the island of Nevis, a half hour’s sail from St. Kitts.27 The social diversity gave Alan a cosmopolitan view about race and an enduring interest in race relations. At work, he quickly became an equal opportunity employer: “I was of course prejudiced in those days in favor of the local officials,” he would write of his early days, “[because] there were at that time a number of local men, both white and colored, who could more competently have discharged the duties of these posts” filled by expatriates.28
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Figure 2.1 Junior Revenue Officer, St. Kitts, 1905. Source: Private Collection of Alan Dixon.





Growing up in the Caribbean also meant that Alan believed in colonialism. The comparative benefits of being a colony here were obvious. The nonwhite populations were far better off in Barbados, the Bahamas, Bermuda, the Leeward Islands, Jamaica, and Trinidad than in independent countries like Haiti or mainland states like Guatemala or Colombia a hundred years after their anti-colonial revolutions. Black and South Asian workers did not seriously contemplate migration to the noncolonial countries of the region. With worsening sugar conditions, there were appeals for more British colonialism, not less. Once you started thinking about the alternatives, colonial rule by a relatively liberal and law-governed state like Britain willing to spend time and resources on your country’s economic well-being was preferable to the tragic alternative of premature self-rule as it came to life in places like Haiti and Guatemala. This was why the first nonwhite president of Nevis “identified powerfully with British institutions and values,” in the words of one historian.29 “At its lowest assessment,” Alan would write, “British rule was the lesser of two evils.”30


The same year that Alan joined the colonial service, Kipling wrote his poem “The Pro-Consuls.” It was inspired by an editorial in the Times that extolled the achievements of the British governor of South Africa, Lord Alfred Milner, in creating a unified state. “The foundations which Lord Milner has laid are firm and strong,” the Times effused, “But for the decision which he took six years ago, there may now be ruins where a fair and stately building is slowly rising.”31 Alan would learn the poem by heart and, as he rose in the colonial service, would distribute copies to his staff.


The poem captured three central aspects of the colonial project that would suffuse Alan’s thinking. First, colonialism filled a governance deficit that would otherwise have been unfilled. “Hid behind the centuries” was a developmental gap that, left ungoverned or poorly governed as in places like Haiti or Liberia, would leave societies ravaged by violence and poverty—“the sea we fear.” That was how empire spread: as much by indigenous pull as by European push. The task of colonial government was to build “foundations deep” so that “peace be fitly made.” The idea of “foundations” of self-government—articulated by the Times and then lyricized by Kipling—would inform Alan’s thinking for the next half century: “It takes time to lay foundations,” he would write, “and if these foundations are hurriedly laid—and badly laid because of the hurry—the whole building must be insecure.”32


The later poems of Kipling, of which “The Pro-Consuls” is one, had a new melancholy. Those sleep-deprived colonial officials would receive little thanks for their efforts. Colonial peoples would inevitably turn on their governors as a result of becoming literate, cosmopolitan, healthy, and secure, making full use of the new rights and legal protections that colonialism afforded. “Doubted they are, and defamed / By the tongues their act set free.” Successful colonialism created the conditions of its own demise. It was, in one scholar’s terms, a “self-defeating enterprise.”33 Western liberalism, and the Christian humanistic thought that produced it, would cause colonial peoples to demand their own rights to be self-governing. That was, in a sense, the plan all along: “Power that must their power displace.” Alan would tell new recruits years later what they must accept as colonial officials: “… A certain amount of criticism even from those we are trying to help, and we must accept cheerfully the fact that we are training the men who in the end must take our places from us.” This was, as Kipling had put it, “foretold of old at our outgoing.” As Alan would put it, “You will get little thanks, but does this really matter?”34


The deeper sadness in Kipling’s later poems related to the home front. Colonial officials could no longer expect praise from “their generation.” The Oxbridge dons were “Scholarly to judge the souls / That go down into the pit.” In this last stage of empire, with social esteem fading, a colonial official needed to be motivated “Not by lust of praise or show” but by the knowledge that his absence would make things worse. As Alan would write, intellectuals back home might “believe the worst of colonial administrators and generally of Britons overseas, and… credit the inhabitants of colonial territories with the possession of all those virtues which their ‘oppressors’ so obviously lack.”35 A “defeatist attitude” would creep into the mainstream of British society, insisting that colonialism was “something to be ashamed of.”36 But those who saw foundations rising and lives improved needed to stay the course: “I think there has been far too much sackcloth and ashes[,] and I hope that this unfortunate and entirely unjustified attitude has not depressed the men who are doing such good work in the colonies. There is no reason why it should.”37





As a junior revenue officer in St. Kitts, one of Alan’s daily chores was to row out to newly arrived ships. The heavy surf frequently upset the small boats as they returned to shore. Alan survived one capsize “due more to good luck than anything else as the steersman had little control over the boat once she was caught on the crest of a breaker.”38 This briny career was more than just a problem of safety. How could one catch the notice of the Colonial Office while spending endless days as acting harbor master in St. Kitts? “Stick close to your desks, and never go to sea, and you all may be rulers of the Queen’s Navy!” was the witty advice of the Lord of the Admiralty in Gilbert and Sullivan’s H.M.S. Pinafore of 1878. Alan was quite literally unable to comply; as he summarized his first years: “I spent a great deal of my time on the sea.”39


To get back on dry land, in 1909 Alan took a job as clerk to the magistrate of Basseterre, where his gift for organization was badly needed. Hundreds of years of Leeward Islands legal code meant that the court clerk was a sort of legal help desk for contending parties. “It was no easy matter to ascertain what laws were actually in force,” he recalled.40 Working with a friend in the court, he compiled a reference book that lawyers and litigants could consult for themselves. The Index of the Laws of the Federated Colony of the Leeward Islands and of the Several Presidencies Comprising the Same was not a page turner when it appeared with a London legal house in 1911.41 Topics included pond drainage, petroleum storage, fire brigades, plant protection, wharfage rates, horse taxes, boards of health, compulsory inoculations, ice-making subsidies, keeping sailors orderly while on shore leave, poor relief, and road maintenance. The authors offered their work with “much diffidence and anxiety.” They were each paid twenty pounds. It was the first demonstration of Alan as a “scholar-administrator” that was so important to career advancement in the colonial service.42 After the Index, Alan would write ten more books, all of them considerably more compelling.


These were boisterous days for Alan. The social scene in island society was gay despite the economic woes. Social gatherings took place on Saturday afternoons at the St. Kitts Club, where Alan’s father had been an institution—billiards for the gentlemen, bridge for couples, and a social area, favored by unattached men and women, where the club’s trademark rum punch was served: “one of sour (lime juice), two of sweet (syrup), three of the strong (rum), and four of the weak (ice).” Alan became an aficionado of bridge and rum punch, the latter “something to remember—and to respect.” He would aspire to the highest compliment: “a gentleman and a scholar—and a judge of rum.”


Despite the gaiety, the scene was difficult for European women. To escape from the shipwreck of Caribbean society, they turned up for the social events with the crews of visiting British warships, the same crews who had rescued the European population from annihilation in 1896. The major fixture was the annual visit of the British Navy’s North American and West Indies Squadron, based in Bermuda. The arrival of even a single cruiser “was an event of some importance,” Alan would recall. Cricket, tennis, picnics. Then the main event: a “subscription dance” where the local ladies “could be certain of a sufficiency of partners.”


Kathleen (Katie) Hardtman was a local estate girl, the belle of St. Kitts: well-raised in a prominent planter family and three years younger than Alan. She was one of nine children, and even as her family’s holdings expanded because of a belief that sugar prices would eventually rebound, actual fortunes were declining. She completed a high school correspondence degree with Cambridge in 1905, aged fifteen, making her better educated than Alan. She was elegant, smart, and most of all ambitious. The visiting sailors did not capture her fancy. These naval officers were too much at sea, never likely to advance beyond a small cottage on the south English coast. Instead, the two Burns boys—Alan and Emile—competed for her affections.


Alan and Emile had been rivals in tennis as well as love. For Alan, tennis was for health and fun—“the best game for the tropics, giving just enough exercise to keep one fit.”43 Emile, by contrast, had begun to hate his upbringing, including tennis. Having spurned the colonial service, he took a place at Cambridge. Katie might have followed. But by now, she was in love with Alan. When Emile heard, he was baffled. Why would she choose a dull colonial clerk over a dashing Cambridge man? “You really are much too nice for Alan,” he wrote to Katie.44


Like many of his generation at Cambridge, Emile was caught up in the excitement of socialism. Katie preferred a more practical spouse. She was not a Catholic, but that did not matter to Alan, whose faith was ecumenical. Their differences, on the other hand, were complementary. Katie knew that professional advance in British administration required more than a good knowledge of rum punch and a gift for paperwork. She had the instincts for being well-dressed and socially adept, as well as politically savvy, areas where he was weak. She would “bring him up in the way he shouldn’t go,” as Emile advised, whether tailoring his suits or charming his superiors.


With their nuptials agreed, Katie, aged twenty, decided to leave the islands for New York, where she joined the typing pool of a Wall Street accountancy firm. For the next five years, she and Alan would endure a long-distance relationship as he struggled to advance in the colonial civil service while she added to their meager savings. New York had let down Alan’s family, but it might make his marriage.





One advantage of his mother and sister’s resettlement in England was that it gave Alan an official anchor in the universal civilization whose colonial cause he supported. When his first leave came up in 1910, he argued that his “home” was Britain. He spent five months in south England, shuttling between the coast and London. It was ten years since he set foot in England, and the intellectual shift against colonialism was now in full motion. While he was in England, the first major conference of colonial critics was organized by economist John Hobson. Among the speakers was the writer and journalist G. K. Chesterton, who was emblematic of a new kind of political animal: the “conservative at home and liberal abroad.” “It is undoubtedly better for general human morality that we should leave other people alone,” he told the delegates. If there was any imperial mission worth defending—“anything that is of our souls and of ourselves”—it was to help each nation achieve “the management of its own affairs.”45


Modernizing ideas were also taking hold within the Burns family. After a stint in Rome, Cecil had abandoned the priesthood and taken up lecturing on political and social questions in London. He confided his loss of faith to Alan and published a venomous attack on the Vatican in the Times, accusing it of persecuting anyone with a “modern spirit.”46 For Cecil, the Vatican had become like a bad colonial power: too worried about its own interests and agenda and not enough about the interests of those it was supposed to serve. Like Hobson, Cecil was not anti-colonial per se. In a 1920 book, he would argue that European colonialism had “on the whole… been good” despite its many failures, because the alternatives for ungoverned areas were likely much worse.47 The task for the colonies, he wrote, was to strengthen consent by creating a voluntary alliance of peoples in self-governing states. Britain might retain a colonial role, but only by invitation: “Imperialism, if it is to develop, must be reconciled with nationalism.”48


The modern spirit also took hold of Essie, who, despite her devout faith, never quite fit into the regimented life of the convent. With the rich material of the school, she fashioned two of the most popular “strong girl” novels of the day: The Grand Duchess Benedicta (1915)—“A real plot and some good illustrations,” The Spectator magazine affirmed49—and Peggy in Demand (1924), both stories of devious plots played by convent students against the adults. Neither was adopted in the convent curriculum.





When Alan returned from leave in Britain in 1911, the Colonial Office declared him ready for a “starter colony.” The place chosen was the tiny island of Anguilla, population four thousand. The journey to Anguilla took two days by sailboat. When he arrived, there was little to do. “I tried such trifling cases as there were, kept the Treasury books, supervised the repairs of the roads, kept an eye on the customs officers, and directed the energies of the two or three short-term prisoners who remained, almost willingly, in the prison.”50 The friendly locals invited him to share a bottle of rum procured from the nearby French-Dutch island of St. Martin, assuring him earnestly that they kept a special “duty paid” bottle for just such occasions. The medical dispensary had an array of medicines in numbered bottles that Alan was supposed to administer according to a chart left by the previous incumbent. In another colony, the story went, the amateur colonial doctor “found that the symptoms indicated the use of medicine from bottle No. 8, but as this bottle was unfortunately empty he gave the patient a double dose of No. 4; the result is not reported.” Alan confined his efforts to bandages and quinine: “None of my patients ever returned a second time,” he quipped.


The prisoners were his favorite companions. They turned up at his bungalow each morning for work orders. He sent them to cut grass in the cemetery or to repair roads. At mid-day he would visit. “My coming was the signal for an outburst of energy too good to be true.” Sometimes he took them hunting, since they knew every duck pond on the island. “I regret to say that on one occasion I used them to recover birds that I shot[,] and I think they enjoyed that day as much as I did.”


The delightful little island of Anguilla would be the site of one of the most comic episodes in post-colonial history—known as the “Bay of Piglets”—when British police and frogmen “invaded” the beaches in 1969 in response to local demands for a restoration of colonial rule. Being stuck here in 1911, however, was no joke. Alan begged for a transfer. When it came, it was momentous. He was sent to the biggest and second most populous island of the Leeward Islands colony, Dominica, to serve as private secretary to the chief administrator.


The commanding heights, even of an island of only twenty-nine thousand people, were exhilarating, even still if his skills in prison management and health care went to waste. The chief administrator of Dominica was a well-connected old sea dog of Canadian birth who had recently served as acting governor of the Leeward Islands and thus had a direct line to London. The advice he gave to Alan was stark: careers were being made in Africa and India, and since the Indian service operated on its own terms, any advance would require a stint in Africa.


The kindly administrator found Alan a post in the greatest African colony of them all: Nigeria, smack in the heart of the “white man’s grave” where few officials lasted long and many went mad. Katie promised to join him there as soon as they were married. After just a few months, Alan packed his bags for Lagos. He had escaped, but it was not clear to what: “Most of my friends thought that I was going to almost certain death.”51










Chapter 3 My Old Mahammedan Sergeant



It took Alan three weeks to reach England, where he procured a portable bathtub, mosquito nets, and a thick cotton “spine pad” erroneously believed to protect the wearer from heatstroke. From there, he boarded a steamship for Lagos. Sister Essie saw him off at Southampton, and he had a brief visit with brother Bertie when the ship called at the Gold Coast. Anchored off Lagos, he was unceremoniously lowered in a wooden “mammy-chair,” placed in a skiff, reloaded onto a larger tender, and paddled over a hazardous sand bar into port. “Why the hell did you come here? You should go back!” a half-crazed Englishman stumbling around the wharf yelled at him when he disembarked.


Alan sailed on the German steamship Professor Woermann, the newest of the “fast service” ships serving the Woermann Line’s West Africa route. The German ships set out from Hamburg, called at Southampton and Boulogne, and then knit their way along the west African coast. One German diplomat on board, Alan recalled, “distinguished himself by taking an overdose of quinine… with disastrous results.”1


Carl Woermann was a Hamburg merchant who dominated commerce in the uncolonized area east of British Nigeria. The local Duala people, who populated the coastline, became the chief intermediaries of the trade exporting palm oil, palm kernels, and ivory to Europe in return for cloth, manufactures, guns, salt, and gin. Twice, in 1877 and 1881, the Duala chiefs entreated the British to establish a protectorate over their region. The British declined. The result was a German protectorate, which became the German Cameroons in 1884. The following year, German commercial interests convinced a coastal chief in what became German Togoland to accept a similar arrangement. It was the beginning of Germany’s relatively brief thirty-year stint as a colonial power.


The cooperative attitude that emerged from great power conferences on colonialism held in Berlin in 1884 and 1885 meant that there was solidarity among British, French, and German colonial officials. Germany’s top colonial official hosted a dinner to honor the retiring British governor of Uganda in 1909 when they found themselves together aboard a homebound German steamer: “We made flowery speeches, vowing eternal friendship between our two nations,” the governor recalled.2 That was changing by 1912, however, as Germany’s rebuilding of its navy to support its colonies contributed to an arms race in Europe and as its expansionary colonial diplomacy, known as Weltpolitik, posed a challenge to British and French imperial interests. By the time Alan arrived in Africa aboard the Professor Woermann, it appeared likely that he would be pressed into service to defend the British Empire against the Woermann legacy.





On joining the colonial service in 1905, Alan enlisted in the St. Kitts militia. The militias formed a basis “on which larger forces can be built up in time of war,” he recalled.3 Besides shooting tournaments with garish trophies, one advantage of militia membership was that in 1911, between assignments in Anguilla and Dominica, Alan was invited to join the ten-member Leeward Islands contingent at the coronation of King George V in London. One thousand soldiers and officers from the British Empire took part in the coronation. It was the largest and most representative gathering of colonial subjects of the British Empire at its peak. The day after the coronation, the colonial contingent was invited to Buckingham Palace to receive medals from the new monarch. “Here they stood in the heart of the great nation that had made this equality of races possible, to receive, as equals in arms and citizenship, the mark of the Royal appreciation of a common patriotism,” the Times eulogized.4


The Mexican writer and Nobel laureate Octavio Paz wrote that “the creation of a universal order… was the most extraordinary accomplishment of colonialism.”5 The universalizing transformation of European society that had accompanied Europe’s rapid development was exported to other societies. As Alan would write, colonialism “united tribes into nations large enough to take their part in the international community” and in so doing contributed toward a recognition of “the universal brotherhood of man.”6


Universal rights brought universal responsibilities, however. To make claims on the universal citizenship of colonialism meant making contributions as well. During the coronation, Alan and the rest of the colonial armies were warned that the obligations of empire might shortly be thrust upon them. Any great power of Europe adopting a “Napoleonic policy,” the British foreign secretary warned, would threaten British sea power, and thus its ability to protect its colonies and dominions. The empire needed to protect Britain if Britain were to protect the empire. In a speech to the colonial contingents, the retired commander-in-chief of British forces, Lord Roberts, who was well-known for his warnings about German intentions, admonished the soldiers to be prepared: “It is not enough to have preference for the unity and maintenance of the Empire unless we are also animated by the desire to make that unity real and effective against all possible dangers, and to do so before it is too late.”7 His words would be cruelly vindicated when he died of pneumonia visiting Indian troops in France in the first month of World War I.


When the war began in August 1914, Alan was put on active duty as a sergeant in the Nigeria Land Contingent, a merry band of European volunteers who took shooting practice after dinner. If he had remained in the West Indies Regiment, his chances of survival would have been nil, since it was eventually deployed to the deadly theater of Mesopotamia. In Africa, by contrast, many hoped that hostilities could be avoided. If the Germans stayed put and did not use their colonies to menace sea routes, Africa could in theory remain at peace.


Yet the robust Allied response to German aggression in Europe in August 1914 caused Berlin to rethink its colonial strategy. German colonies could be used to tie down Allied armies and resources that would otherwise be deployed to Europe. A British and French quagmire in Africa would help a German victory in Europe. The Germans invented the term “world war” (der Welt Krieg) to describe this globalizing strategy. The British and French, meanwhile, saw that German colonies would be critical resources for supporting the war in Europe. A massive 12-tower radio transmitter built in German Togoland in 1914 coordinated all German shipping in the Atlantic. As a result, the defensive colonial strategy of the British and French was abandoned in favor of dismantling the German empire.
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